MAINE STATE LEGISLATURE

The following document is provided by the

LAW AND LEGISLATIVE DIGITAL LIBRARY

at the Maine State Law and Legislative Reference Library

http://legislature.maine.gov/lawlib



Reproduced from scanned originals with text recognition applied (searchable text may contain some errors and/or omissions)

Senate Legislative Record

One Hundred and Twenty-Fifth Legislature

State of Maine

Daily Edition

Second Regular Session January 4, 2012 to May 31, 2012

Pages 1594 - 2357

passed by government can result in such a diminution in value to ones property that it amounts to a taking. The current constitutional standard sets a very high threshold, so that almost total lost must occur. The focus of the bill was to set another threshold. I'm not going to debate the bill today. I do urge your support of this motion to Indefinitely Postpone. I just want to put on the record that, based on the deliberations that took place in the Judiciary Committee, I think it's fair to say that there is a recognition that there was a problem here. I think the struggle was how to fix it. I think we have come to the point where the efforts and the fixes proposed in both the Majority and Minority Reports don't do it. The Minority Report, which I happened to support, attempted to do a real fix and put a threshold for what a regulatory taking was and provided a remedy for a landowner. Potential remedy. I sense, though, a great deal of concern that this remedy, perhaps, was going to be too cumbersome and too difficult to enforce and perhaps too expensive for the State and was filled with uncertainty. I understand that. The Majority Report, which is also before us. I believe, and I think many agreed, really does not do much to address the problem. It primarily relies upon a mediation program that already exists and has been shown not to be particularly effective. I make the motion to Indefinitely Postpone because I think this is an issue that should be revisited, that neither solution we have before us is the right one. We should leave the slate blank and allow a future Legislature, if it wishes, to take up this issue and see if a resolution, that is fair both to the State, its governmental entities, and the landowners and will work, can be developed. I don't think we have it today. Ladies and gentlemen, I urge your support of the motion to Indefinitely Postpone this bill. Thank you very much.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Sagadahoc, Senator Goodall,

Senator GOODALL: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, I rise just briefly to comment that this bill has had a long history in different forms and variations in this Body, starting way back in the 1990's and potentially in between, since then to now. We've had much debate. We've had much focus on the issue of how we can, potentially, resolve some of the concerns dealing with landowner rights in our individual committees, whether it be the Committee on Natural Resources and Environment or the Agriculture, Conservation and Forestry Committee. I think it is incumbent upon us to always be extremely diligent and ask the questions in those respective committees dealing with land use issues on how regulations are going to impact people's property rights and whether they are justified. I think many people that were opposed to the bill focused on that approach rather than having an after-the-fact approach dealing with compensating someone on a very limited basis. There is merit in a lot of people's concerns. We listened to them. I think a better approach is incumbent upon us to be very thoughtful in our legislating at the committee level and in this Chamber, as well as at the other end of the hall. I would encourage you to join in Indefinitely Postponing this bill.

On motion by Senator HASTINGS of Oxford, Bill and accompanying papers INDEFINITELY POSTPONED, in NON-CONCURRENCE.

Sent down for concurrence.

All matters th concurrence.	nus acted upon were ordered sent down f	orthwith for
-	Off Record Remarks	
	JRTNEY of York was granted unanimous Senate off the Record.	consent to
	MOND of Cumberland was granted unani	mous
-	Off Record Remarks	
	OND of Cumberland was granted unanind ddress the Senate off the Record.	nous
-	RECESSED until the sound of the bell. After Recess	
-	Senate called to order by the President.	

ORDERS OF THE DAY

The Chair laid before the Senate the following Tabled and Later Today Assigned matter:

SENATE REPORTS - from the Committee on APPROPRIATIONS AND FINANCIAL AFFAIRS on Bill "An Act To Make Supplemental Appropriations and Allocations for the Expenditures of State Government and To Change Certain Provisions of the Law Necessary to the Proper Operations of State Government for the Fiscal Years Ending June 30, 2012 and June 30, 2013" (EMERGENCY)

S.P. 600 L.D. 1746

Majority - Ought to Pass as Amended by Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) (8 members)

Minority - Ought To Pass as Amended by Committee Amendment "B" (S-573) (5 members)

Tabled - May 15, 2012, by Senator ROSEN of Hancock

Pending - motion by same Senator to ACCEPT the Majority OUGHT TO PASS AS AMENDED BY COMMITTEE AMENDMENT "A" (S-572) Report

(In Senate, May 15, 2012, Reports READ.)

On motion by Senator **ALFOND** of Cumberland, supported by a Division of one-fifth of the members present and voting, a Roll Call was ordered

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Hancock. Senator Rosen.

Senator ROSEN: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, I present the Majority Report, a plan to balance the remaining \$80 million 2013 Department of Health and Human Services shortfall. Before I highlight a couple of items, I'd like to remind everyone of the significant accomplishments achieved by your Appropriations Committee over the last 18 months. With your strong support, Republicans, Democrats, and Independent, we have successfully confronted several of the most persistent challenges facing the State. Up to this point we have done so together. Perhaps the greatest challenge for our committee and the Legislature this session has been managing the MaineCare and MaineCare related programs as we watch our federal funding decline and we careen over the dreaded financial cliff, losing hundreds of millions of dollars of one-time stimulus funding. To keep MaineCare whole and backfill the loss of federal funds, we increased General Fund spending by \$223 million in last years' biennial budget. As it turned out, the shortfall persisted. Last December the Chief Executive projected an additional shortfall of another \$220 million for the remainder of this biennium. In five previous budgets we came together to support difficult measures: like a freeze and cap on the childless adult waiver, like the reduction from 200% to 133% of the federal poverty level for parents enrolled in Medicaid and parents of the SCHIP kids. These actions and many others required courageous votes from Republicans and Democrats in this Legislature, including the members in this Chamber.

This bill, L.D. 1746, was first introduced in December and has been the subject of lengthy public hearings and months of examination and review. Representative Flood, the House Chairman of the committee, and I requested that the Legislature's Office of Fiscal and Program Review take the time to review the underlying assumptions used to project the \$220 million DHHS shortfall that this bill was introduced to fix and we did that. We took the extra time. We then split the bill, as you recall, in two pieces. We passed a solution which brought the current fiscal year, 2012, into balance, allowing more time to examine the new eligibility accounting problem and to consider the updated revenue forecast, which was completed at the end of April. Once the analyst determined that only 7,700 eligibility segments, costing \$6.5 million in General Funds, rather than the projections that were being circulated that were unsubstantiated of enormous impacts, we determined that of the 19,000 original segments only 7,700 actually generated costs of \$6.5 million. Once we determined that through that exhaustive examination and we had the new revenue figures at the end of April, we were still facing a daunting \$80 million Department of Health and Human Services shortfall in 2013. Keep in mind that when I use the term shortfall I am not describing a lack of revenue. Instead, we are talking

about spending needs running \$80 million over budgeted projections.

We then went to work to draft this finally supplemental budget. This budget is five months in the making. In the end, many of the Chief Executive's original proposals were rejected or significantly altered; such is the nature of the legislative process. We listened to the public. We heard their input. We studied the proposals and worked carefully to make prudent and careful recommendations. Unfortunately, we were unable to maintain our impressive streak of unanimity with our Democratic colleagues. Perhaps the heavy pressure from the various constituency groups just became too intense. This obligation was one we cannot hide from. We are expected to make the decisions many would prefer to avoid. If you adopt the Majority Report, through our actions over the last 18 months we will have increased over the baseline amount of spending our General Fund MaineCare spending by \$323 million. I want to make sure everyone understands that. We moved into this 2012-2013 cycle with a baseline requirement for General Fund spending of a little over \$1 billion. We have, with this final budget, increased General Fund spending for MaineCare by \$323 million; a total of \$1.4 billion of General Fund commitment from the 125th Legislature for MaineCare. As you know, that is the State General Fund dollar that draws down the \$2 federal match. Does this sound like a shift and shaft? Does this sound like the Majority walking away from funding the core needs of this massive program? No. This is the sixth budget intended to confront an enormous challenge in a fair and balanced manner.

I'd like to comment on one provision in the budget that deals with the General Assistance Program. The actions in this Majority Report restore to the original posture the negotiated agreement between the Democrats and the Republicans regarding General Assistance that was adopted overwhelmingly in L.D. 1903. That provision was the subject of a line item veto. Regarding General Assistance, the Republicans and the Democrats in the Appropriations Committee had agreed and that negotiation occurred. That would be our negotiated agreement as it relates to General Assistance changes in this session. We made that agreement then. We had a handshake on that agreement. That was one piece that went beyond that particular budget in terms of our posturing. We have maintained our position and, with our actions in this Majority Report, we have demonstrated that a commitment was a commitment and the General Assistance proposal remains unchanged.

Approval of this Majority Report, along with our previous work, will hand to our successors in the 126th Legislature a budget that is sound and balanced for the first time in many years. Ladies and gentlemen, I encourage your support of the report. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from York, Senator Hill.

Senator **HILL**: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, when I was appointed to Appropriations I was quite pleased. I realized that it was a very serious matter and that I had to commit to giving it my all to come to unanimous budgets with as much consensus building as possible. As the good Senator Rosen indicated, over an 18 month period we have been forced to deal with five budgets, most of which were rather complex. We pulled them off with unanimous committee reports and supermajorities in both Chambers. In fact, the last budget, for

me, it was sort of a crowning moment when the Senate lit up all lights unanimously for that budget. I appreciate that. I have to also say that, over the 18 months, it has been a pleasure working with the Chairs of the committee. Senator Rosen is always a gentleman and very professional. I have enjoyed sitting next to Senator Katz. We've given each other comic relief and also good pointers on things we should be considering in the budget. He has been a gentleman and very professional as well to work with. I have made it a point, as some people have noted, to say less than more in this Chamber because I know that words matter. With that onerous task of getting so many budgets through, I just did not want to go places I didn't need to go on certain issues, although my heart was often with many of the causes and I had hoped to speak. I would like to have spoken more. I also have to tell you that it's been very hard on my caucus because they are new to the Minority. I'm new to the Senate. Often I had to beg, I had to lobby, and sometimes I even threatened. I asked often for a leap of faith on these budgets. I want to thank each and every one of them for having, at some point, voted for a budget with me. It meant a lot. It was an important task for me to meet up with the other Chair and get budgets passed by a supermajority.

Because I know words matter, I have held back, like I said, in expressing concerns about other bills. The budgets I have felt, for the most part, pretty good with, considering where we started and where we landed. Today I do have to tell you I have to take a very strong position on this budget, the Majority Report. My words will be stronger than you are used to, at least in this Chamber. They will be more in keeping with what you may have heard on the radio or read in the papers recently. I just feel, I gave it some thought, that I should be in here and I should also state those words in your presence because it is truly how I feel. It is not personal and I hope it is not taken personally because that is not how I operate. This is politics. I'm expressing an opinion.

Again, I thank my caucus for having voted with me on five occasions. The last one was lit up like a Christmas tree. This time I'm going to ask them to vote again with me, but this time I'm going to ask them to vote against the Majority Budget. If you are wondering why I am opposed to L.D. 1746 I will tell you. I do consider it a sham. I do consider it a shift, a shaft, and, truthfully, a shame for Maine. I see it as a sham because it creates a structural gap, in my opinion. It uses unapproved federal waivers and unfunded tax breaks. There is no crisis, in my opinion, after we run the numbers on the revenue projects as well as the budget balance. OFPR has still not confirmed and solidified the numbers that we have had to work with from the computer crisis. The waivers that are being sought as being booked in 2013, but they have not yet been applied for. We hold in hand a letter from CMS that says they are likely not to be granted. If by some remote reason they are, it would probably take nine to twelve months for that to happen. That means \$22 million in this budget will be falling in the lap of the 126th Legislature when they get here. The unfunded taxes, I am all for helping out people with tax breaks, but I like them to be funded. There is going to be \$8.7 million in FY 2014 and \$24 million in FY 2015 just from this budget alone. That means less revenue and we're also following the trail of about \$400 million from the income tax breaks we voted on last year. There is no plan for payment yet. I feel it's irresponsible.

I see it as a shift because it rolls back social benefits for low income and needy people. At the same time, we're generating a new benefit program for those fortunate enough to have

pensions. As we know, many Mainers don't have it. Those who do, or who will be coming to the state with pensions, it does not matter how high their income is or what their assets are. They still benefit from this new social benefit, which is a right, like an entitlement. It is permitted by law. We, by voting for this budget, are, in fact, giving the pensioners a new entitlement or social benefit, however you are comfortable saying it.

I do see it as a shaft, and this is probably the part that bothers me the most, because it's a bean-counter budget. It's all about the numbers. It's not about people. We are talking about people on the whole DHHS aspect of this. It indiscriminately removes people from healthcare by drawing a line at a certain number or a certain benchmark, with callous disregard for the person's medical needs or their medical costs. It basically says that if you fall on this side of the line you're off healthcare, if you're on that side of the line you get to continue some healthcare. I think it's a shaft because I know people out there are going to say, will be standing on the front porch saying, "Well, this is great. Our taxes will not be increased. Maybe we'll even get reductions in taxes." What they don't realize, both the property taxpayer and the insured and the hospitals, is that when the 911 call comes in, or these people who no longer have healthcare are in pain and suffering and they walk into an ER, then the property taxpayers and the insured and the hospitals will be picking up the tab.

Finally, I feel this is a shame because I don't feel like we had to go here. We are Mainers. The people that we are cutting benefits from, or taking off programs altogether, are Mainers. There are only 1.23 million of us in the state, so it's pretty much one of those situations where somebody is your friend, somebody is your family, somebody is a co-worker, or somebody is an acquaintance. Somehow you will know these people who are affected. I think there is a better way to assure that these people who belong on MaineCare and receive DHHS benefits continue to do so, while at the same time culling out those who maybe don't belong there through fraud or because of a change in their assets. I think we can do that with a heart and a head. I think we need to use both so that we are not passing a budget that is a shift, a sham, and a shame. Thank you for your time.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Kennebec, Senator Katz.

Senator KATZ: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, I appreciate the comments of my good friend from York, Senator Hill. Suffice it to say, there are those of us who do not see this Majority Report in the same light. I join with Senator Rosen and Senator Hill in lamenting the fact that we were not able to reach a sixth consecutive unanimous budget. Perhaps that was inevitable in that we left the really tough ones for the end. This report does some things that our caucus felt have to be done, that our colleagues on the other side of the aisle made it clear that they could not support. From our perspective, Mr. President, it's important to remember that there is an \$83 million shortfall we still have to address in 2013. The question was how to address it. How to deal with it. It's not fun. It's not easy. We could have taken the less painful route and simply kept our head in the sand and pushed the problem off to the next Legislature. The problems are not going away. The DHHS budget, as Senator Rosen has pointed out, has sprung a leak. We think it's better to plug that leak rather than hope that the ship is miraculously going to heal itself. This goes beyond the deficit we are facing in the DHHS budget this year. We are making, Mr.

President, an effort to steer that same MaineCare ship in a different direction; not a radical shift in course, but a prudent correction.

There have been a number of comments about the Governor's proposals to MaineCare and that this is a Governor's budget. This is not a Governor's budget. This is the Legislature's budget. We have made some significant changes and listened and listened and listened to our constituents and hours and hours of public testimony. We've taken time to study the issues indepth. As the old saying goes, the Governor proposes and the Legislature disposes. We have agreed with the Governor, Mr. President, on some things. We have rejected some of the Chief Executive's idea. We have modified others. Those of us who are in the Republican caucus in the Appropriations Committee are proud of the work we've done. If there is one thing we've learned, it is a fact that our MaineCare budget is out of the mainstream compared with most other states.

For those of us who are baseball fans, we know that it is good to lead the league in certain things and not in other things. It's to lead the league in batting average or homeruns, but you don't want to lead the league in strike-outs or errors. We are leading the league, Mr. President, in ways that we should not be proud of and are causing us concern with respect to MaineCare. We are spending \$1,895 per MaineCare enrollee versus the national average of \$1,187. We are in the top five in the entire country in the percentage of our population on Medicaid. We have a 35% higher percentage of folks on Medicaid than the national average. We have more people on MaineCare or Medicaid than we do taxpaying families paying for it. In 1998, Mr. President, MaineCare ate up 12.4% of our budget. Today it is 21% of our budget. We are now to the point where the Department of Human Services, if you add up all federal and state spending, out of all of our spending, 45% is in the Department of Human Services. Since 2002 enrollment in MaineCare has gone up 78%. Mr. President, we have tried to be all things to all people. As a result, we find that we are not able to even serve the ones that most need our help. In the Appropriations Committee, Representative Chase made an analogy that I'd like to share with you. If you go outside of the State House you see where the handicap parking spots are. Those are the people we need to serve. What we've done in the MaineCare budget is we've extended out those handicap parking lots further and further and further into the lot, to the point now where there could be handicap parking spaces 100 yards away from this building. The ones who really can't walk into this capital building are now being forced further and further away because of the number of extra people we've added. That's an analogy to our MaineCare budget. In trying to be all things to all people, we've not devoted the funds to the people who need it most. Forty-five percent of our budget is going to pay for Health and Human Services issues. Again, to think about a baseball analogy, what if the Red Sox were spending all of their money on player salaries and ignoring the need to invest in education, that is their minor league system, or the decaying infrastructure, a 100 year old ballpark? That kind of thinking, Mr. President, doesn't work in baseball and it doesn't work in State government because by taking an increasing share of our budget and applying it only to Human Services and increasingly to MaineCare there are other things we are neglecting. Our roads and bridges need our attention. We can't afford to pay for it. We are supposed to be paying 55% to the General Aid to Education for our K-12 education. We're not doing it because we can't afford to do so.

Higher education, we all agreed we'd like to be putting more money into higher education. We can't afford to do so. Part of the reason for that is, again, the increasing spending on Human Services, in general, and MaineCare, in particular. Mr. President, in respect to higher education by way of example, when my father was in the Legislature 20% of General Fund Budget went to higher education. That's now 9%. It's not a coincidence. As a result of our inability and our failure to invest in those other things which we all know are important, your kids and my kids are having a harder time finding a way to stay in Maine.

It's easy, we all know this, it's easy to say don't cut. It's hard work to make targeted, precise reductions. This is a budget from our committee by which we are trying to do our best to bring Maine back into the mainstream. Targeted cuts that will allow us to make other investments that we need to do for a more prosperous future and still, as this budget I believes does, Mr. President, protect the most vulnerable among us. It's not perfect, but it's our best effort. I hope that our colleagues will support it. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Cumberland. Senator Bartlett.

Senator BARTLETT: Thank you Mr. President. I am opposed to this budget because it is nothing more than an attack on good, hard working families in the state of Maine. It's an attack on working parents. A single mother of three who will no longer be able to afford the childcare she needs in order to go to work every day. It's about that same mother who is going to get sick and isn't going to be able to go to a primary care doctor because she doesn't have one any more. She's going to miss time from work and she will not be able to take care of her kids. It's an attack on our children, the very youngest infants who are literally saved from abuse and neglect by home visitation. It's an attack on our youngsters, when you are reducing access to early childhood education, which we know has dramatic impacts on their lives and on the state of Maine. It is an attack on our young people, our 19 and 20 year olds, who are just trying to start making their way in the world and are not going to have access to healthcare. It's also an attack on our seniors, leaving no one behind, this bill does. Equal opportunity. It takes away their access to lifesaving prescription drugs. It's often said that budgets are about values. What this budget says to the people of Maine is, "We are walking away from you." We're walking away from the people who are going out, trying to work, and trying to get by. Instead of rewarding that effort, instead of rewarding you for getting up off the couch and going to work, we're going to penalize you for doing it. There is one thing I will agree with. This budget involves structural change. Unfortunately, it is weakening the structure of our state. This budget, if you want to go into yet another analogy, is equivalent of walking into your basement with a sledgehammer and start attacking the very foundation on which your house is built. Hurting our young people, hurting our working families, and hurting the senior citizens who have made this state of Maine great simply weakens the foundation. It incurs much higher costs in the future. It does not stand for the values of Maine people. This document is not about balancing a budget. It reads much more like a political manifesto that we'd be hearing out on the campaign trail. It is not sound and balanced because it violates federal law in at least four ways. The only way to get around that is to go to the federal government and say, "Please give us a waiver." They are waiver that we know are probably not going to

be granted. They haven't been granted to any other state in the union. The indications that we've gotten from the federal government is that they are not going to start with Maine. This budget, from the get go, is not balanced. Why do it then? Why include these provisions that we know are going to get tossed out? Well, there are two reasons. One is from a political perspective, to be able to say, "We made structural change." Maybe if we're lucky you won't have to live with the consequences. The feds won't let us do it. The second reason is that it's a gimmick. It's a way of making it look like you've closed a hole that is still going to exist tomorrow when the federal government says, "You are bound by federal law." I think it's frustrating to see this document coming to us at this stage of the session because there has been a lot of great work that has been done on both sides of the aisle, trying to steer the ship of state. When you start going into the foundation, into your basement, and swinging a sledgehammer, bad things are going to happen. The house is going to start to crumble. There will be consequences. There will be much higher costs to the State of Maine. I, personally, am not going to stand here as a representative of my district and launch an assault on the good, hard working families in the state of Maine. Thank you, Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Androscoggin, Senator Craven.

Senator CRAVEN: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, I stand in opposition to this budget. I'm not even going to talk about how cruel and heartless it is, how it hurts our senior citizens and our babies and working people. I'm actually opposing this budget because it's actually a make-believe budget. It's make-believe because we are booking savings that we don't even have permission to book. We don't have permission to book savings for our maintenance of efforts, cuts that have been made in this budget. We have made the cuts. On the other hand, if we don't get our waivers, I can't imagine how we're going to make the cuts. If we do make the cuts and we are out of compliance, the penalty for that is losing all of our Medicaid money for nursing homes, hospitals, group homes, physicians, and anybody that gets reimbursed through Medicaid. I know that every person on Appropriations knows that. To be so disingenuous and put something forward that is unachievable is just amazing to me. I can't imagine any legislator taking that risk and going back to their district after having voted to perpetuate this kind of make-believe, that we are actually cutting these services when we can't achieve them or that we don't have money to achieve them. Really, it's a matter of priorities. We know where the money is. We all know where the money is, or where it's supposed to be. It's not going to anybody that's in the working class. I'm going to sit down now and ask people not to vote for a budget that is absolutely unachievable. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Cumberland, Senator Alfond.

Senator **ALFOND**: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, I will be joining my colleagues in voting against this irresponsible budget because of what it will do to our youngest children and families. This budget, in its wisdom, has decided to cut Head Start. I think everyone in this room can understand and knows what effective early childhood

programming can do for a young child and for their families. Somehow we have decided that we want to cut this, not just by a little amount but by \$2 million and this \$2 million magically won't hurt one child or family across the state of Maine. I, personally, don't believe in taking away opportunities for young children and families. I wasn't sent here by my constituents to say, "You know what? You don't deserve a great start to your life and we're going to take, we're going to rip, this opportunity from you because we have a so-called budget crisis." To me, it would make sense, if we want parents to continue working, to not be forcing hundreds of families to make a decision on whether they send their child to Head Start or to continue working. I believe it compromises a safe learning environment for children. It compromise opportunities for families. It is wrong. Let me tell you a short story about the success of Head Start. Karen got pregnant and was very overwhelmed. She applied for Early Head Start. She was assigned a case manager who went with her as she learned the complicated process for applying for public housing and WIC benefits. Once the baby was born, her child was enrolled in an Early Head Start center while Karen went back to school. There is much more to this story. Today Karen is working and successfully raising her child. This budget takes that opportunity away from Karen and her child. Over 200 families are going to lose that opportunity. We might want to talk about 1.4 billion and all these different numbers, but what I think is going to happen in August when this Majority Budget takes effect is that Karen and her family are going to wake up and if Karen did have access to Early Childcare and Head Start that is not going to be there. Then Karen's going to have to make a decision on whether she continues working or takes care of her young child or has to find different opportunities. Why, as a state, would we make this a priority? Why would we say, "You know what, Karen, your young family and your job is not something we prioritize. We are going to take that funding away." I can't understand it. I can't put a price tag on the safety of our youngest and most vulnerable children. Head Start cuts will hurt children and young families. Mr. President, I cannot vote for this irresponsible budget. I believe it is reckless and I simply don't believe it's the right thing to do. Thank you, Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from York, Senator Sullivan.

Senator SULLIVAN: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, I stand here today and will vote in opposition to this budget. For me, one of the most deplorable cuts in the Majority Budget is the elimination of home visitation programs that teach parents, young parents, how to be good parents. The Home Visitation Program has reduced domestic violence by roughly 50% throughout this state. It is a program that works. This cut is very personal to me. I personally know the grandparents and the father of young Ethan Henderson, the baby who was murdered in Arundel, my district. I knew the family when they lived in Kennebunkport, my constituents. Jan Collins-Faunce, the adoptive mother of Gordon, was a renowned beloved science teacher at Biddeford High School. She was very involved in the outings programs; outing as in science program of outdoor life. Irv Faunce was a Selectman in Kennebunkport. They were a solid couple and they were asked to be an adoptive parent; foster parent first. They agreed only after insisting that they take this particular family that had three siblings who, in the young lives of all three siblings, had suffered horrendous sexual and physical

abuse. Irv and Jan did their best. I know they provided countless hours of therapy. The Child Protection System operated by DHHS failed miserably in this case. The department had not responded to the warnings of abuse. Had the department responded to the warnings by the childcare provider, both parents were working, and used the Home Visitation Program to teach Gordon Collins-Faunce how to a father, how to remove the stress of two small twins, one who was quite sickly, and perhaps had provided the home environment that they needed, we would not be talking today about the death of a two and a half month old child who was beaten so badly that the child was put on life support and blinded. It was Gordon's adoptive father, Irv. who held that baby as he was taken off life support. We cannot guarantee the success of every baby, but we must implement policies that allow us to move forward on this goal. We cannot have the headlines be about domestic abuse. With the economy bad, yes people, it will get worse. We know it as a teacher in a classroom. We know when there are money problem, where people begin to drink too much or they become overcome by stress, it's not kicking the cat, it's often kicking the child. We need babies that are born in Maine to be able to be relatively reassured that they will go to homes where love and the knowledge to parent exist. That's public policy. That's caring. There is a saying, "Give a man a fish and he eats for a day. Teach a man to fish and he eats for a lifetime." I'd change that a little bit. I'd say; teach a person to be a parent and teach a person how to deal with stresses. Maybe break the vicious cycle that they grew up with and they know nothing else, especially in those early years. Gordon was 8 years old, who in this case the father and the murderer, when he was removed from several different homes permanently because he had been so badly abused. People tried. He couldn't handle it. We need to put the time and effort into our very young and our very old. I would ask you to teach a person to be a parent. There are many ways to offer the Visitation Program. I was talking earlier with a fellow colleague here. Their program is run somewhat differently. Some are run through Head Start and some are run through grant programs. Instead of cutting the program, just slashing it, let us please take a look to find the policies that are most effective, the ways that we offer this, and make sure that programs like the Goodall Hospital in Sanford, Maine and some of your local chapters in your counties can offer home visitations. We can observe the environment the child is in to see if it is safe. These babies cannot speak. We must be their voice. I cannot vote for this budget because, indeed, as somebody said, we are just counting dollars. We've not made sure that the policy is solid. This policy is not solid. I cannot vote for this. For my friends, Jan and Irv Collins-Faunce and for the children that I have dedicated my life to, I will vote in opposition to this budget.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Lincoln, Senator Johnson.

Senator **JOHNSON**: Thank you Mr. President. You have probably figured out by now, having heard me speak on matters before, that I'm also not going to support this budget. It's not only reckless, irresponsible, penny wise and pound foolish; it goes further than that. You've just heard one real story about how real people's lives are affected or shortened by the programs we implement and the programs that we cut. I have another example for you. This is one we still have a chance to make a difference in. A young gentleman in my district has an 18 year old who got

very sick. After seeing multiple doctors, he was advised that his kidneys were failing. At that time, they were only working at 10%. He was placed on a very strict diet and he was told that in five or six months he would be on dialysis. He would have to be on dialysis until he could get a new kidney. He was a senior in high school, but he had to drop out because he had too low an energy level with his illness. He doesn't have a high school degree. Health is an obstacle. He can't work to make money. His mother, who works full time but doesn't have medical insurance for herself or her youngest child, managed to get MaineCare coverage. They don't know for how long. Certainly we are looking at cuts to the program that would allow the 19 or 20 year olds to be covered. We're talking about eliminating them. For this young man, that would be a death sentence because his mother and he, himself, cannot afford the operation. They can't afford dialysis. They can't afford the drugs for the rest of his life so that he doesn't reject his transplant. I'm telling you that you are making a very real decision about people's lives here with this budget. These are not just numbers. These are people. These are people that we are deciding whether they will have the opportunity to lead productive lives. We talk all the time about how we should be giving people a hand up, not a hand out. Here is a chance for someone to make something of his life. We're about to tell him that he's just a statistic and it's alright if he dies instead. I can't vote for this budget. You'll be hearing more from

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Kennebec, Senator Katz.

Senator KATZ: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate. I've heard words this afternoon: cruel. heartless. disingenuous, reckless, deplorable, and others. I'm not sure what budget these speakers refer to. I don't think it's this one. God forbid we look at the facts. Let me just talk about three program cuts that have been raised here this afternoon as being cruel. heartless, disingenuous, and etcetera. Head Start is a federal program. It's federally run. We're one of only 15 states, Mr. President, that puts any money in Head Start. My friend from Cumberland is correct. We're talking about a \$2 million cut. That's about 7% of Head Start's total budget. There will still be \$440,000 of State General Fund money, \$1.3 million of funding from the Fund for a Healthy Maine, and \$32 million of continued federal funding. Hundreds of kids getting pushed off. If Head Start can't figure out how to serve the same population with a 7% cut I'd be surprised. How many in this Chamber haven't had to make a 7% cut in their own budgets in the last couple of years and been able to get by? How many businesses do folks own in this Chamber, or are involved in this Chamber, that haven't had to sustain a 7% cut, but have been able to redo things and have been able to do things more efficiently? Head Start, I'm absolutely confident will do the same through their fundraising and through their volunteer solicitation. We're out of the mainstream. Mr. President, in the fact that we even put State dollars into this important program. We're going to continue to do so. This is hardly a gutting of Head Start. It is a 6% or 7% cut.

Nineteen and twenty year olds, I guess it's heartless and deplorable to remove 19 and 20 year olds from MaineCare. We are one of 15 states, Mr. President, that even has funding for 19 and 20 year olds. We're out of the mainstream. It's all a matter of priorities. It's nice if we could cover everybody, but this is one population that I would respectfully suggest is not necessarily a

priority to put millions of dollars into. We're not cutting MaineCare for all 19 and 20 year olds. Senator Johnson will be pleased to know that the individual he identifies is undoubtedly going to qualify for MaineCare in some other category, not just by virtue of the fact that he is 19 or 20 but because he's disabled. Those who have persistent mental illness will also qualify under different categories. It's a luxury to pay for 19 and 20 year olds and it's a luxury that I respectfully suggest we cannot afford. It has unintended consequences too. We all know that 19 and 20 year olds are the most healthy in our population. Many 19 and 20 year olds, and you've heard it around your district because I certainly have in mine, work in a hospital, or they work in other businesses, and they have relatively inexpensive health insurance available to them. They choose not to take it. Why? Because they qualify now as 19 and 20 year olds for MaineCare. Some of those people will come off. This is not going to be thousands of people who are going to be without insurance. We're only talking about 7,000 people altogether anyway. Many of these people will, in fact, take healthcare from their employers. That will help drive down the cost of healthcare for the rest of us. It is a reasonable setting of priorities, from my perspective, Mr. President.

Lastly, I heard, with great eloquence, about our attempt to eliminate home visitation services. I respectfully suggest that's hardly what is going on here. Right now we're spending about \$5 million a year on home visitation services. We are talking about making a modest cut of State dollars. Keep in mind, Mr. President, we're beginning now to receive a \$30 million federal grant over four years for home visiting services. They are important. When you start at the beginning and go to the end, what we'll see is that we are going from a \$5 million a year program to a \$10 million a year program. There are some restrictions to the use of those funds. When you get down to the weeds, the fact is that we're going to end up with a much more robust program that is going to serve more families and will serve more families better.

Again, Mr. President, all of these cuts have been thought about long and hard. They are targeted. They are reasonable. They place us in the mainstream. They will, again, protect the most vulnerable, whether they are young or whether they are middle aged, or whether they are old. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Sagadahoc, Senator Goodall.

Senator GOODALL: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate. I rise today in an alarming fashion, based on what I've heard. The notion that we're choosing between our youngest and the most vulnerable in what others claim as modest and luxury and that we are out of the mainstream. Helping a child is not out of the mainstream. Giving a child an opportunity that that young boy or girl wouldn't have but for the programs like Head Start. Two billion dollars is not modest. You have life changing events when you are growing up. I recently became a father. I look to the future, frankly, most days through my daughter's eyes. I know that she is very fortunate, based on the community and family that surround her. Many young daughters, many young children and many young boys, don't have the same opportunity. Their only chance is the hope and the prayer that Head Start, the programs that we fund, give them the opportunities to succeed and to perform well in school. If you haven't noticed, we only have about a 32% proficiency rating in reading. We aren't even at the average of 50%. Fifty percent of our forth graders don't

read with proficiency. If we make more cuts to Head Start how is that going to help that? How are we going to build on the many strong family units that we have in this state, because there are many family units that are not strong. My in-laws served 175 children as foster parents. Those kids didn't have a chance. We're asking all those families to do more through fundraising. We're asking them to do more while making analogies. We shouldn't be making analogies about children's lives. We shouldn't be cutting taxes at the sake of our children in situations like this.

I am one that voted for many budgets, much to the chagrin of many of my Democratic colleagues I am sure, because they were reasonable, they were responsible, and they were consensus driven. This budget fails all those factors. We can do better. We should have done better. This budget jeopardizes the lives and opportunities, most importantly the opportunities, for those children to succeed, for those children to live prosperous lives, and for those children to increase our median wage in this state. We need to increase our median wage in this state. Without that, without education we can't do it. Reducing Head Start and the programs that we're cutting today reduces the amount of opportunities that we're going to give kids. Those are the differences in priorities. Those are the things we have to think about. Those are the actions that we're fighting for on this side of the aisle and we're standing up for. Mr. President, unfortunately I anticipate this budget is going to pass, but I'm proud of all my colleagues that are standing up today and explaining what's going to happen.

I go to ten town meetings a year. In almost one of those town meetings someone stands up and says, "You know what? We can't cut this program because it's for our kids." They are often the most conservative people in that room. They show up and they raise their hands to appropriate more money because it's for the children. They are concerned about property taxes, trust me. We should be doing better. We can do better. This budget reduces opportunities, reduces programs, and jeopardizes many young children's opportunities. Thank you, Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Hancock, Senator Rosen.

Senator ROSEN: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, the claims regarding the impacts from the proposal in the budget as it relates to Head Start are emotional, but they are incomplete. I know I am on the bean-counter committee. Every once in a while down there we do spend a little time trying to understand the broader trend of what is happening. When we look at resources available for young children in this state, it's interesting because we have a declining enrollment in our K-12 public schools. At the same time in the biennial budget we put an additional \$65 million into K-12, including resources for K-3. We spent a tremendous amount of time this session talking about CDS and the tens of millions of dollars in that system that are available for students and available for infants and small children 0-5. We looked at the Head Start program. We've already had listed the \$32 million in federal funding, the fact that it's a federal program, and the amount of money available. Is it the 7% cut in Head Start or is it the fact that all of these resources have overlapping programs, including, by the way, more and more schools that are beginning to develop and offer pre-K programs. Why? Because of their declining enrollment has put them in a position that they actually need to go out and compete to maintain the population and the funding in the school and they offer pre-K. Do we have a problem with the coordination of all these overlapping programs? This past Summer I had the opportunity to sit on the streamline task force. We spent a lot of time looking at Head Start. We spent a tremendous amount of time looking at CDS. We've been following the issues in K-12. I know the Senator from Cumberland, Senator Alfond, is particularly interested in these issues as a member of the Education Committee. He has expressed a great deal of passion. It's very difficult to translate what's being represented here as impacts when you don't understand the whole picture. Is it the system that we created or that has evolved over time that can't seem to apply all these resources in a way that is effective and coordinated? Maine is one of the states that, over the years, has decided to participate in this federal program, Head Start, with a check from the State. Other states do it through county government. Other states do local fundraising. Other states do it with in-kind contributions, including donated hours from parents. All acceptable off-sets and donations. While I appreciate the emotion. I think many of us on the Appropriations Committee are able to also feel the same emotions and concerns. Line it up with our bean-counting tendencies to say that when we look at the population, we look at the need, and we look at the assets that are available, it is difficult to accept that a 7% cut in the Head Start program is going to result in some of these outcomes.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Androscoggin, Senator Craven.

Senator CRAVEN: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, I just wanted to make a couple of remarks regarding the statements of the good Senator from Kennebec. I would like to state some numbers that just came up from OFPR. We actually have cut \$79 million in 2012 - 2013 from services that are offered through Health and Human Services. That's a lot of money and that does have an impact on a lot of people. There are a couple of other things. One is that I have a homeless shelter for youth in my district. There are young people who live there. Many of them live there because their parents are not able to take care of them. They are using substances, using drugs, using alcohol, or whatever, which makes it impossible for those children to stay at home. Some of them are included in the cuts for 19 and 20 year olds. They are just getting their feet under themselves, to finish school, and to get on with their lives. I cannot imagine young people living in a shelter that have no healthcare and no way to access healthcare for themselves. That is something that I am very, very worried about and wonder whether or not they can actually maintain their placement in those facilities and not have healthcare services.

So far nobody's talked about the Fund for a Healthy Maine, which is just such a soft spot in my heart. The Fund for a Healthy Maine remains our state's primary investment in public health and preventative care. With healthcare costs on the rise, it's more important than ever to protect these funds, to prevent costly chronic illnesses, and promote healthy living. That includes smoking cessation, which I see in the budget as having gotten a hit. Head Start is another program at risk and that money is also taken out of the Fund for a Healthy Maine, which is not taxpayer dollars but monies that are set aside from the tobacco funds that keep our state healthy. I think that, going back to Head Start, it really creates a terrible barrier for some young parents who are working and who need this service for their kids. According to a

2012 report from the Chamber of Commerce and the Maine Development Foundation, investing in care and education starting at birth foster greater success in school, as well as remedial education costs, and also helps the economy. Furthermore, Maine Drugs for the Elderly is paid for through the Fund for a Healthy Maine. There again, we are losing that service that is not paid for with taxpayer dollars but through dollars that are set aside to keep people healthy and to prevent higher costs from emergency rooms and people suffering more chronic illnesses. I just hope that people think more seriously about what the impacts of this budget has on our state and vote against it. Thank you, Mr. President.

Senator **SNOWE-MELLO** of Androscoggin requested and received leave of the Senate that members and staff be allowed to remove their jackets for the remainder of this Session.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Cumberland, Senator Diamond.

Senator **DIAMOND**: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, I will not take long. I do want to thank everybody and say how proud I am, to those who are listening, of the level of debate on this very emotional topic. Anyone who thought this Chamber didn't have the capacity to debate something like this and do it at a high level, they were wrong. It has been very high level and I'm proud to be a part of it.

I want to thank the Appropriations Committee for the five unanimous budgets. In fact, I was communicating with the good Senator from Kennebec, Senator Katz, a couple of days ago on another issue. I said in a P.S., "My money is on you guys to come up with a unanimous budget. I'll bet you will do it again." bet maybe you almost did. I'm not sure, but I think the competence and the desire at least to try to do it right was there. I'm sorry it didn't work out.

One of the things that bothers me about this budget; there are a couple of items, but the one that bothers me the most is the one on the home visitations. I may have a misunderstanding of what that is all about but, as far as I understand, the home visitation piece is the one that really does, hopefully, find abusive situations in the home, either before that sort of thing starts or maybe just after. I don't what the possibilities are of adding that in. I know there is an amendment coming to the Majority Budget, if the Majority Budget passes. That's one area I think we really should look at again. I'm willing to stand corrected if my understanding of the home visitation is off. I think it isn't. I think the fact that what they actually do with that program is that they actually do rescue kids. If that is the case, and if there is some way we can keep that in, I think that would be a tremendous step forward by this Chamber. Thank you, Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Cumberland, Senator Bartlett.

Senator **BARTLETT**: Thank you Mr. President. Numbers and statistics can often be very deceiving. It's easy to look at it in terms of pure dollars and cents, whether it's a 7% cut here or a 15% cut there or \$2 million here. If you look at that total, you can

make it seem like the cut is insignificant. If, however, you are the parent of one of the 1,400 kids who is no longer going to have access to affordable childcare, and you are going to have to give up your work, that is a huge impact on your family. It's a 100% loss to you. If you are one the 750 families who lose access to the home visitation and the assistance you get dealing with alcohol and drug abuse or domestic violence or issues around neglect, that is a life changing event. If you are one of 14,814 working parents who no longer have access to healthcare, and if you get sick you clearly cannot pay your medical bills and are likely to lose your job, that is a world of difference to you and to the people of this state. If you are one of 5,649 seniors in our communities who lose some or all of your access to lifesaving prescription drugs, that is a world of difference to you and your quality of life and your ability to live, in some cases. If you are one of those 19 or 20 year olds who gets sick or contracts a chronic disease, it's a world of difference when you don't have any access to healthcare. It means you may not be able to work. It means you may not be able to be productive in society. It means you may have a much shorter life because of it. These impacts are real and they affect real people. It's fun to try to hide behind numbers or to massage those numbers, but at the end of the day we're talking about thousands of Maine people whose lives will be dramatically changed. We'll be hearing from them when they wake up one morning and they can't go to work because they don't have childcare or they were denied a prescription that they'd been getting for years that was helping them maintain a decent quality of life. When those impacts are felt, we will hear it. That sad thing is that it's going to be too late for some people. That's the danger in this budget. Thank you, Mr. President.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Cumberland, Senator Alfond.

Senator ALFOND: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, I want to follow my friend and colleague from Cumberland to talk about more people and more young children that are going to be affected by this irresponsible budget. Something that hasn't been talked about is what happens in our schools. Right now this budget is making a deep cut to our healthcare centers. You might think that some people might say that these healthcare centers are luxurious or they are out of the mainstream. I would counter that, in fact, these health centers that evaluate and treat illnesses, give dental screenings, and give medical exams, I don't think that is luxurious. I don't think that's out of the mainstream. I think that what it is is a real basic service that we are providing to our youngsters who then probably spend more time in school. Their parents don't have to drive them across a couple of towns or go to different doctors offices. It provides a real opportunity for youngsters, for our students, to stay healthy. I guess you've heard this a lot from this side. I don't believe that taking away primary healthcare from our most needy children is something I want to do in the 125th. With this budget we are doing it. I would also contend that if we want students to learn and learn well, if we want students to be healthier and stay healthier, then we should not be cutting these services from our schools. From parents, what do they think about these healthcare centers? They love it. They love it for the accessibility and they love it for the convenience. Students, they like it too because now they don't have to leave their schools and are not interrupted by lengthy doctor visits.

Here parent Candy Bridges said, "I really appreciate the reassurance and peace of mind just knowing that the health center is there. For physicals, it is very convenient. I don't have to take them out of school for a day and a half. Flu shots too. Both of my sons are in the upper level classes and miss class time that is very difficult to make up. The dental van services also provide great saving for our family, as well as being so convenient. There are some health needs that are more chronic and do require travel to specialists and they let us know." I just don't understand how we honestly can be making these cuts when we know that students across the state will be hurt dramatically. We know that when these cuts are made these students will lose their effectiveness. Like my colleague from Sagadahoc said, we already are far behind in some of our reading proficiencies and other things.

I think there are also some trends that I'd like to share. I think there are some trends in that our businesses are asking for stronger workforces. Stronger students. Students coming out who can think creatively and communicate well. Who can collaborate. What these cuts are doing. I don't think that's strengthening the state of Maine. I certainly don't believe they are investments; these new investments that we need to make. I'm sorry, folks, but by cutting programs for young students and families, I don't think that is what I was sent up here to do. We had a choice in this last budget. We had a choice to come and potentially get a sixth unanimous budget or to go with this Majority Report. It saddens me that we're here. It frustrates me that this is the best we can do. It also disturbs me because I know what's on my screen and on my telephone. Then there will be the letters that will be sent starting the end of August, when all these letters will go out telling the 20,000 plus Mainers that their basic coverage is no longer there. A quick calculation, because no one wants to talk about the five different budgets and all the different structural changes we've created, means that potentially somewhere between 40,000 to 60,000 Mainers will lose their coverage in the 125th Legislature. That's something we can be proud of. That's going back to the mainstream. That's the priority that we should be proud of. Between 40,000 and 60,000 Mainers have lost their coverage during the 125th. That is outrageous. The most vulnerable people in our state. I'm sorry, Mr. President, once again, I cannot support this budget. Thank you very much.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Lincoln, Senator Johnson.

Senator JOHNSON: Thank you Mr. President. I heard comments about infrastructure and education when we frequently talk about structural change. When I was in my district a little while ago, someone who works for part of that Healthy Maine Partnership, part of what we're about to cut funding for, was talking to me about what their program does and voiced their greatest concern with the funding for the program. It's not just that they are providing education to young people about healthy lifestyles; whether that is avoiding unwanted pregnancies, whether it's eating well and having good nutrition, or whether it's not starting a lifetime addiction to tobacco. All of these things are important for different reasons, such as Maine actually being an outlier in terms of having low levels of teenage pregnancies. We should be proud of that. There is an outlier we're about to give up by removing funding for providing the kinds of education that would keep us there. Her greatest concern was not just that these programs were going to suffer and that Maine people would

suffer because of it. You cannot make, in her words, these kinds of cuts without losing infrastructure. You lose the people who no longer have a job to provide this kind of education, that know the kids in the district, that know where they hang out, that know the school system, that know the townspeople, that go in and speak to them about the importance of funding programs that matter to that various towns, and that know where to find kids at their hang outs and reach them with this message. Those people who no longer have a job doing that move on to somewhere else where they do have a job. In that line of work, that is your infrastructure. The people who know the people of the district. The people who know the programs. The people that know who to talk to and how to make all of this work and how to get through to kids. They are the infrastructure. When we cut funding for programs like this, we lose the capacity. We cannot simply fund it again later and suddenly have a program in place. We've lost the infrastructure by which that program was implemented. The people who know how to do it in those districts and know those citizens.

It's been mentioned already that the Maine Development Foundation supports and speaks to our need to provide better early childhood education. It's one thing to say that this is only a 7% cut, but when you think about the fact that we're not doing enough early childhood intervention, we're not providing enough early childhood educational opportunities for kids, and that both the Maine Chamber and the Development Foundation say we need to do more if we want to have a decent future, then even 7% is entirely in the wrong direction.

I want to tell you one more story. I know that this one is not influenced entirely by what's being cut in this budget. It's actually a combination of what we've already done and what we're about to make worse. There is a Mom, a young mother, who does not have full custody of her son. She works, but she works at Thomas College and sometimes UMA as an adjunct instructor. This means that she doesn't get health benefits. She doesn't get dental. She doesn't even have reliable employment from one semester to another or over the Summer because it depends on what the other professors that aren't adjunct professors want to teach for courses and whether they need her services. She's applied for dozens and dozens of jobs over the last few years. She has a problem with earning less than \$1,000 a month. Here are more conditions and realities of her life situation. She has epilepsy. She's had epilepsy and the kinds of seizures and conditions that have gotten worse since she was first identified with it at the age of 17. She used to have MaineCare. Because of the cuts she has to pay for the \$1,200 a month it costs for her medication that she has to take three times a day to control the epilepsy, which Maine does not consider to be a disability, so that she can be a mother to her son, so that she can hold a job, so that she can drive to look for employment and go to her place of employment, and be productive. She's been kicked off MaineCare four times recently. She has gotten a notice once again, the day after it went into effect. As you can imagine, when she earns less a month than her epilepsy medication costs, that puts a real strain on her. It means we're telling her that she has to stop working and become someone with a more serious financial problem so that she can qualify for some kind of service that will get her epilepsy medicine. It means that she will have to become someone who does not have treatment for epilepsy and, therefore, requires someone to watch out for her all the time because it's a life threatening condition. That would also mean that she could not find herself a permanent home situation that she cannot afford right now because she's dealt with those

several times. She's had to pay for all that medicine that she couldn't afford and, at times, deal with seizures because she couldn't afford enough of it. She's been denied MaineCare coverage repeatedly as of late and then regained it. This is a person who wants to work, wants to provide a good home situation, regain the custody of her child, and raise her son in the best circumstances for that child to be productive. We're working hard to take away any opportunity for her to qualify for that.

I can't support this budget. I understand that some people like to deal with numbers and talk about how it's a small percentage and we should absorb it, that it's a small program. These are some of the realities of what we're dealing with. These are people whose situations are going to get worse. These are people who, because of that, are going to represent greater costs to us. It is penny wise and pound foolish. It is real lives that are affected too. Her life is not going to be successful if she can't have her medicine. Neither will her son's. We talk about the people being pared off these programs. I would argue that we should be making more real structural change if we're looking at managing the costs of these programs. Someone alluded to the figure that we spend on average on the MaineCare recipients, the truth is that nobody receives the average amount, or very few do. The amount of benefits different get varies according to their problem and their circumstance. There are people who are receiving necessary care that is very expensive. A small percentage of people. We're not doing anything to manage that. I would submit to you that instead of looking at this and saying, "Well, paring a few people off, denying real people what they need, is structural change." I would argue that is not structural change. That's dropping people off the edge. Real structural change would be finding ways to make her medicine cost less than \$1,200 a month so that maybe she could afford it herself. Why aren't we doing that? I can't support this budget. I can't support it because I think it's really irresponsible for us to make a dimmer future for the people that are going to be working the jobs in this state, people that we are trying to educate to bring jobs to this state as an educated workforce, and the people that are trying to get by and hold down jobs and be productive. I think that's definitely penny wise and pound foolish. I won't be voting for this budget.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson.

Senator JACKSON: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, we heard a couple analogies about baseball, strikes and errors. Growing up I played a little bit of baseball. Later on in life I played a lot of softball. I coached some baseball. I definitely know strikes and errors. I also know that some people, when they get up to bat, can be standing there and a sweet one comes down the middle. They swing and hit that with everything they've got and connect. Right out of the blue, somebody will stick their glove out and catch a perfect line drive. There is nothing that anybody can do about it. It's part of the game. Sometimes the best swings are strikes, errors, and outs. That's what happens many times with people in this state and in this world. You can be going down life's highway and be a great ballplayer, but right out of the blue you can get struck with some type of illness that you'd never seen coming, but somebody stuck their glove out and put it in you. That's the type of thing that we see in this state with people. We spoke about this before. Through no fault of their own, they've ended up with some type of

affliction that's caused them to be sick. Maybe they'll end up on a program that the State of Maine has because they had no other options. We've done things in this state, in this Chamber, that has increased the cost of health insurance. L.D. 1333, however you want to talk about it, it has not lowered the cost of health insurance in Aroostook County. It's driven it up. More businesses quit providing it. There is even less of a chance for people to go out and get health insurance on the private market. When they are low income and they are able to get onto MaineCare because they have some affliction that, quite honestly, is their only option. They are not going to be able to get it privately. I couldn't afford private health insurance with the job I have. The statement that 19 and 20 year olds should be able to go out and get healthcare through the business or the job they are working for, I don't know where that would be in my district. I really don't. There is no one that I know that has logging jobs that provide health insurance for their people in my area. I just don't know them. It's very hard for me to sit here and say that's not going to be a problem; that those 19 and 20 year olds can go out and get health insurance or these people that have dropped from 133% down to 100% of poverty level, which I believe is going from \$14,000 down to \$10,000 a year. Ten thousand dollars a year, I think some of us in here make that in less than a month. There are some people that actually make that over the year. What do you do? You can't start charging more per hour. These people are working at minimum wage jobs to begin with. I just think that it's unfair for some people to just draw a line and say, "You make \$19,000 in a year, so we can't help you any more with your prescription drugs even though those prescription drugs may cost \$1,000 a month." I'm sure that there are some people that have to pay that. To say, "Sorry, you're \$19,001 and we can't help you any more." I don't understand. Those people are out there. They are not going to go away because we say that their not there and people are not going to be harmed by this budget. They are not going to go away. What do we do? Do we get a caller I.D. that shows up \$19,000 whenever people call so we can take their call? If it's \$19,001 we don't take their call. They are going to call you. Do people not take those calls? I heard about having a head in the sand. I don't know if I have my head in the sand or what. I know that people call me with real problems. They are honestly sick. They honestly have no other place to go. Now I've got to tell them, even more people, "Look, I'm sorry, but there is absolutely nothing I can do to help you." I know that people will say, "Troy, that's not true. You're crazy. There isn't anyone out there that's going to die because of this budget." I think there will be. I know that there are people that have died because of lack of healthcare, not being able to afford healthcare. I know them. They were close to me. You can't tell me that there isn't going to be someone else that's going to end up in that situation. I've got to tell you, I look around this room and I don't feel bad for anyone that's made it, that's well off. I don't. I'm glad for you. There are people that aren't like you. They haven't made it. They are not going to make it. We're in a capitalistic society. The fact is that we have to have poor people so there can be rich people in this society. They are always going to be there and they are always going to struggle. You can't just say, "Well, I hope this is going to work." It isn't. Somebody is going to get screwed in the end. I've got to tell you that we are all State Senators in here. We all worked and did what we had to. Being a Legislator gives you a lot of influence and power. I never signed up to be the person to decide who lives and dies in this state. I will make tough decisions, but I am not going to tell

somebody, "I'm sorry, you can't have healthcare any more. Now go away because I don't care what happens to you now."

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Oxford, Senator Patrick.

Senator PATRICK: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, colleagues and friends, I rise this afternoon to explain my stand on the budget that is before us. I've heard about bean-counters, statistics, and values. Every morning, Mr. President, we open the session with prayers. We almost always hear that we should take care of the less fortunate, the needy, and not abandon the poor. We always ask for Devine guidance and wisdom. I started this way so I can explain that 24 days ago my mother was just a couple of breaths away from dying. She pulled out of it. She bounced back and had two great weeks. If you know anything about me and a little bit about my Mom, we had a cool relationship. We talked about a lot of things and not always politics. My Mom had a picture of her and Governor Baldacci at a barbeque where she was lobbying him for more money for the nursing home and for the wages that the nursing home people got. On one of the visits, just a couple of weeks ago, she told me how proud she was of me and of my support for those in need, like the residents of the Rumford Community Home. That's where she was a resident. She gave me two pieces of advice. She said, "Son, always listen to your heart." The second was to remember the letters on that little rubber band that she kept on her nightstand; those letters were "WWJD". For those of you who don't know what they stand for, they mean "What Would Jesus Do?" That's a gift my mother gave to me. As a State Senator, I believe I always take that into consideration before I vote because I think I'm a pretty compassionate person. I also listen to what the needs are and the amount of money we have available. My mother passed away this Friday morning at 12:07. Mr. President, this budget, in my mind, does not contain the strong Maine values or the Christian values my mother and I believe in. I believe this budget is harmful. It is hurtful. It is shortsighted and extreme. I'll be voting in opposition to this budget in memory of my Mom and for the many citizens that have contacted me to vote against this budget. I'd also like to say, the way these budgets go, if the budget is not going take effect until mid-August, are we going to come back because this budget is a 12-month plug, an 11-month plug, or a 10-month plug? | don't know. I know after hearing what I heard, I'm extremely happy with the Minority Party. I see right now here in the Chamber there is only one Minority person missing at this time. I would probably say they are all here. Right now there 13 Majority Party seats in the Senate Chamber at this point not here listening to the importance of what's going on in this budget for the people of the state of Maine. Therefore, Mr. President, I will not be voting in favor of this budget in my mother's memory. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from York, Senator Hill.

Senator HILL: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, I just had to rise because I couldn't contain myself any more. Obviously, I seemed to have managed to do that until my chance to get up and speak. I am not used to using baseball references and analogies with regard to State matters. I hear it happening more and more. While I enjoy baseball, I'm not sure I enjoy talking about people who are making millions of dollars as

an analysis or a reference when we're talking about people who are really needy and poor. If we've got to talk about them, for God's sake, let's talk about the good things about them, not what their scores are and how they do on the field. Let's talk about somebody like David Ortiz, who sends millions back to his country to help the poor and needy. That's what I'm impressed about with him, not how he handles a bat. The other thing I've got to share with you, Thursday in the work session before the committee I was subjected to what I felt was like a supremacy rally at one point, based on what happened with one legislator and what they started to say. It was kind of like shock and awe. I'm still reeling from it. I must have spoken to 50 people about it the last few days because I can't get over that it happened in the State House of Maine. You know what? Gosh darn it, I had to hear it again. It's about handicapped parking. I'm not being emotional, I'm just not very happy. Needing more handicap parking spaces, to me, is a great sign. It is a testimony that people are recognizing the ability of the disabled and the handicapped. Aren't we a better place in state government here in Maine because we've got an AG, Mr. Schneider, we've got Representative Crafts up here, we've got Representative Peterson, we've got Representative Mazurek, and I'm sure there are a host of other staff and State Legislators that I don't even know who are using those parking spaces. God bless them, keep on using them. That's my position. Suggesting that we should have less handicap parking is very much a big part of this budget. We never had a public hearing on it. We never discussed it. It just came out in a work session as an analogy, like I said, much to my shock. I'll tell you what it does. It sends chills down and up my spine. These are the kinds of words that were talked about in the 20's and the 40's that came across the Great Pond. Those kinds of ideas. I don't want to hear that kind of talk any more. What I want to hear is that all over Maine we're going to be adding more and more handicap parking spaces because that means we're a better state and a better society. Thank you.

THE PRESIDENT: The pending question before the Senate is the motion by the Senator from Hancock, Senator Rosen to Accept the Majority Ought to Pass as Amended by Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) Report. A Roll Call has been ordered. Is the Senate ready for the question?

The Doorkeepers secured the Chamber.

The Secretary opened the vote.

ROLL CALL (#492)

YEAS:

Senators: COLLINS, COURTNEY, FARNHAM, HASTINGS, KATZ, LANGLEY, MARTIN, MASON, MCCORMICK, PLOWMAN, RECTOR, ROSEN, SAVIELLO, SHERMAN, SNOWE-MELLO, THIBODEAU, THOMAS, WHITTEMORE, THE PRESIDENT - KEVIN L. RAYE

NAYS:

Senators: ALFOND, BARTLETT, BRANNIGAN, CRAVEN, DIAMOND, DILL, GERZOFSKY, GOODALL, HILL, HOBBINS, JACKSON, JOHNSON, PATRICK, SCHNEIDER, SULLIVAN,

WOODBURY

19 Senators having voted in the affirmative and 16 Senators having voted in the negative, the motion by Senator ROSEN of Hancock to ACCEPT the Majority OUGHT TO PASS AS AMENDED BY COMMITTEE AMENDMENT "A" (S-572) Report, PREVAILED.

READ ONCE.

Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) READ.

On motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock, Senate Amendment "J" (S-589) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **READ**.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Hancock, Senator Rosen.

Senator **ROSEN**: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, this is only a technical amendment to the budget. Even though we're all very careful downstairs as we go through the final drafting process, invariably there is always a need to make sure that we have the opportunity to make very, very minor technical adjustments if need be to the budget. That's what this amendment does. I encourage your approval.

On motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock, Senate Amendment "J" (S-589) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **ADOPTED**.

On motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock, Senate Amendment "H" (S-587) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **READ**.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Hancock, Senator Rosen.

Senator ROSEN: Thank you Mr. President. Men and women of the Senate, this is not a technical amendment. This amendment is offered to hopefully improve the bill, to make some changes to the Majority Report, which I believe will be more universally acceptable to all members of the Legislature. In particular, first of all this amendment would propose to provide additional funds. \$500,000 of additional funds, to serve individuals on the waiting list for services under the MaineCare benefit Section 21, Home and Community Benefits, members with intellectual disabilities or autistic disorders. This is an effort to reduce the people that are on the waiting list for the developmental services in the waiver program. This amendment would also propose to remove from the Majority Report the \$1.25 million cut, or deappropriation, to services in the Mental Health Services for Children account. These residential services had a reduction in the Majority Budget, to make a cut to those reimbursement rates to those residential services. This removes that \$1.25 million reduction. We propose to replace that with a small reduction of \$375,000 by reducing funding to optional coverage for children who are behavioral challenged and who are in residential settings. This is consistent with information that we received related to the original proposals in the Governor's original budget and the hearing information that came forward. This reduces the impact. It is more targeted and has less of a negative impact. Finally, this includes funding of \$22,007 to offset a 10% rate reduction for adult family care services. This 10% rate reduction was adopted in a previous budget. As many of you may have been hearing from some of the adult family care providers, there are many particularly along the mid-coast that found this 10% reduction very problematic.

This is a restoration of the previous cut and eliminates that 10% reduction. I would encourage your support.

On motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock, Senate Amendment "H" (S-587) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **ADOPTED**.

On motion by Senator **JACKSON** of Aroostook, Senate Amendment "D" (S-580) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **READ**.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson.

Senator JACKSON: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, this amendment amends the portion of the budget that gives the sales tax exemption to logging equipment. While I think that's a fine thing, I'm a little confused that we actually had something that would have given some help to the Maine loggers in this state that got vetoed and sustained at the beginning of this session. At the time we was told there would be something better coming. I don't really understand how this is better because from what I understand it's push to 2014. For another whole year there will be no actual help. Part of my confusion with this is that we didn't get the budget until Saturday, at think at 1:58 is when I received it on-line. I don't really know how much is going in there. In the past I've seen that it was \$320,000. When I look at that sales tax exemption for something costing \$450,000, that's going to end up being \$22,500 of a sales tax exemption. If 13 people happen to buy this equipment, then the \$320,000 is all gone. I'm confused. It seems like there is going to be a lot of people that might be upset in 2014 because it doesn't seem like it's funded accurately. In addition to that, what I'm concerned about more than anything is that I believe that under this piece in the budget anyone that has a U.S. corporation here in Maine can file and get exemptions on any logging equipment. What concerns me about that is the same thing that you all know that I fight about all the time, there are companies out of Canada that file for corporation here in Maine and then turn around and get these exemptions. I don't think that's appropriate. Just like with the Tree Growth Program, which we've had the debate on. This is a sales tax exemption. I don't think that's appropriate for someone that really has their business in Canada to get sales tax exemptions and for all of us to have to pay for that. I also don't think it's appropriate for those companies to bring their foreign workers into Maine and get those sales tax exemptions. This amendment would make it very clear that you have to have a place of business here in Maine, a physical place, and you also can't be using foreign workers under the H2 Bonded Program to get the sales tax exemption. Only Maine companies that hire Maine people can get the sales tax exemption because the sales tax exemption is going to be paid from Maine people. I think that's appropriate. We've just seen one of these companies, Le Transport Roux, which just the name of it would tell you that it is probably a company out of Canada, just the way it's said. They are a U.S. corporation. They got fined by the Maine Department of Labor. During the hearing, the person that they sent to advocate, to argue for their position, was the brother, and part owner. When asked under oath, he was a bonded worker. There he was, the part owner of the company and was a bonded worker. That is the type of thing and people that can apply for this sales tax exemption and get it. It floors me that anyone

would want that to happen here in Maine. That's why I put the amendment in.

Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock moved to **INDEFINITELY POSTPONE** Senate Amendment "D" (S-580) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572).

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Hancock, Senator Rosen.

Senator **ROSEN**: Thank you Mr. President. I certainly appreciate the efforts and the sentiment of the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson. I would discourage the members from trying to get into a complicated discussion of H2 bonded labor and application of sales tax and developing a differential that may or may not be consistent with current law on the floor of the Senate. I would recommend that an effort like this be better handled in a committee with full vetting.

On motion by Senator **ALFOND** of Cumberland, supported by a Division of one-fifth of the members present and voting, a Roll Call was ordered.

THE PRESIDENT: The pending question before the Senate is the motion by the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson to Adopt Senate Amendment "D" (S-580) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572). A Roll Call has been ordered. Is the Senate ready for the question?

The Doorkeepers secured the Chamber.

The Secretary opened the vote.

ROLL CALL (#493)

YEAS: Senators: COLLINS, COURTNEY, FARNHAM,

HASTINGS, KATZ, LANGLEY, MARTIN, MASON, MCCORMICK, PLOWMAN, RECTOR, ROSEN, SHERMAN, SNOWE-MELLO, THIBODEAU, THOMAS, WHITTEMORE, WOODBURY, THE

PRESIDENT - KEVIN L. RAYE

NAYS: Senators: ALFOND, BARTLETT, BRANNIGAN,

CRAVEN, DIAMOND, DILL, GERZOFSKY, GOODALL, HILL, HOBBINS, JACKSON,

JOHNSON, PATRICK, SAVIELLO, SCHNEIDER,

SULLIVAN

19 Senators having voted in the affirmative and 16 Senators having voted in the negative, the motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock to **INDEFINITELY POSTPONE** Senate Amendment "D" (S-580) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572), **PREVAILED**.

On motion by Senator **JACKSON** of Aroostook, Senate Amendment "I" (S-588) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) **READ**.

THE PRESIDENT: The Chair recognizes the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson.

Senator JACKSON: Thank you Mr. President. Ladies and gentlemen of the Senate, this amendment is about a facility in Limestone, as the summary says. This facility is something that has a lot of jobs in Limestone, which is obviously a very depressed area now with the closure of the Loring Air Force Base. It provides some of the better jobs in Limestone. The simple fact is that a number of years ago, probably two or three years ago, they had a review. The State has, basically, condemned the building and said that they have to repair it or rebuild it. You can't take away that action by the State. They've condemned the building. The people that own the Manor, Chad Cloutier of the Cloutier Agency, actually went to the State. They said to look at repairing it. They brought in an architect design people and they said it's something that can't be repaired to safety standards. The foundation is undermining. The building just is not worth sinking the money into it and still maybe have it, somewhere down the road, be condemned again. The State said to go ahead and do the architectural design of a new place. The people who own the Manor bought land in Limestone, committed to the town of Limestone that they would be rebuilding there. They went out and spent. I think, \$400,000 on design and groundwork and everything for the Manor and then were told that they would have to put that hold. They also had gone to T.D. Bank North and I believe they had to put \$10,000 up for the loan application. They were approved for the loan. Because of banking regulations, and it set so long, they've now lost that \$10,000 and the application is void at this point. They would have to go ahead and spend another \$10,000 to get another application. The fact is that the State is sitting on something that they've told these people in the past to go ahead on. They were going to sign off on it. They've spent all the money on the design. Now they are saying no. They are kind of stonewalling. I don't think it's fair. I don't think it's fair to any business to be struck like that. We've talked about that, about letting businesses go out and do what they do. We know that this Manor has to be rebuilt. There are plans for it. It's good for Aroostook County. It's much needed. All they need to do is have the State sign off on it. As of now, they have failed to and not wanted to because of reasons I'm sure some of us might be able to surmise. Quite honestly, the only option I can see at this point is to have the Legislature tell them to go ahead and do what they should have done, quite honestly, a while back. That's why I put in the amendment. I think there is absolutely no reason why this doesn't happen. I hope you support it.

Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock moved to **INDEFINITELY POSTPONE** Senate Amendment "I" (S-588) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572).

On motion by Senator **ALFOND** of Cumberland, supported by a Division of one-fifth of the members present and voting, a Roll Call was ordered.

THE PRESIDENT: The pending question before the Senate is the motion by the Senator from Aroostook, Senator Jackson to Adopt Senate Amendment "I" (S-588) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572). A Roll Call has been ordered. Is the Senate ready for the question?

The Doorkeepers secured the Chamber.

The Secretary opened the vote.

ROLL CALL (#494)

YEAS: Senators: COLLINS, COURTNEY, FARNHAM, HASTINGS, KATZ, LANGLEY, MARTIN, MASON, MCCORMICK, PLOWMAN, RECTOR, ROSEN, SAVIELLO, SHERMAN, SNOWE-MELLO, THIBODEAU, THOMAS, WHITTEMORE, WOODBURY, THE PRESIDENT - KEVIN L. RAYE

NAYS: Senators: ALFOND, BARTLETT, BRANNIGAN,

CRAVEN, DIAMOND, DILL, GERZOFSKY, GOODALL, HILL, HOBBINS, JACKSON, JOHNSON, PATRICK, SCHNEIDER, SULLIVAN

20 Senators having voted in the affirmative and 15 Senators having voted in the negative, the motion by Senator **ROSEN** of Hancock to **INDEFINITELY POSTPONE** Senate Amendment "I" (S-588) to Committee Amendment "A" (S-572), **PREVAILED**.

Committee Amendment "A" (S-572) as Amended by Senate Amendments "J" (S-589) and "H" (S-587) thereto, **ADOPTED**.

Under suspension of the Rules, READ A SECOND TIME and PASSED TO BE ENGROSSED AS AMENDED BY COMMITTEE AMENDMENT "A" (S-572) AS AMENDED BY SENATE AMENDMENTS "J" (S-589) AND "H" (S-587) thereto.

Ordered sen	t down forthwith for concurrence.	
-	Senate at Ease.	
	Senate called to order by the President.	
•	Off Record Remarks	
	JRTNEY of York was granted unanimous Senate off the Record.	consent to
	OND of Cumberland was granted unaning ddress the Senate off the Record.	nous
-	RECESSED until the sound of the bell.	

After Recess

Senate called to order by the President.